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PREFACE

During sixteen years, from 1879 to 1894, of service for the
geological surveys of Minnesota, the United States, and Can-
ada, in travel over large areas of this state, the Dakotas, and
Manitoba, my attention was often attracted to the origins of
their names of places, partly received directly from the Indian
languages, and in many other instances translated from the
aboriginal names. Frequently our geographic names note re--
markable topographic features, or are derived from the fauna
and flora. Perhaps a greater number commemorate pioneer
white explorers, early fur traders, and agricultural settlers.

Later work for the Minnesota Historical Society, since
1895, has permitted and even required more detailed considera-
tion and record in this field. Many memorials of our territorial
and state history are preserved in geographic names, and each
nationality contributing to the settlement has its share in this
nomenclature. As the first immigrants of the state along the
Atlantic and Gulf coast brought many place names from Eng-
land, France, Holland, and Spain, so in Minnesota many geo-
graphic names have come from beyond the sea. Here the in-
fluence of a large proportion of immigration from Germany is
shown by such names as New Ulm, New Trier, Hamburg,
Cologne, and New Munich. Old Bohemia is brought to mind
by the city of New Prague. Sweden, Norway, and Denmark
are well represented by Stockholm, Malmo, Bergen, Trond-
hjem, Denmark, and many other township and village names.
In the early eastern and southern states, Plymouth, Boston,
Portsmouth, Bangor, New York, Charleston, St. Augustine,
‘and New Orleans, recalled tender memories of the Old World.
Likewise, these German and Bohemian and Scandinavian
names have a great meaning to the immigrants from those
countries who have made their new homes here.

To illustrate how this subject is like a garden of flowers,
or like an epic poem, reference may be made to the names of
the eighty-six Minnesota counties. Fifteen came directly. or
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through translation, from the Dakota or Sioux language, eight
being retained as Sioux words, Anoka, Dakota, Isanti, Kan-
diyohi, Wabasha, Waseca, Watonwan, and Winona. Six are
translated into English, namely, Big Stone, Blue Earth, Cot-
tonwood, Redwood, Traverse, and Yellow Medicine; and one °
is received in its French translation, Lac qui Parle. Twelve
counties bear names of Ojibway origin; but only five, Chisago,
Kanabec, Koochiching, Mahnomen, and Wadena, are Indian
words, and the first was made by a white man’s coinage. The
seven others are Chippewa (the anglicized form of Ojibway),
Clearwater, Crow Wing, Mille Lacs (a translation in French),
Otter Tail, Red Lake, and Roseau (another French transla-
tion). .

Fifty-two counties have received personal names, which
may be arranged in four lists. The early explorers of this
area are commemorated by seven counties; the fur traders of
the early half of the last century, by four; citizens of Minne-
sota as a territory and state have been honored by the names
of twenty-six counties; and citizens of other parts of the
United States are similarly honored in fifteen counties. First
enumerating the seven county names from explorers, we have
Beltrami, Carver, Cass, Hennepin, Le Sueur, Nicollet, and
Pope. The four named for early fur traders are Aitkin, Fari-
bault, Morrison, and Renville. The twenty-six counties named
for Minnesota citizens are Becker, Brown, Carlton, Cook, Free-
born, Goodhue, Hubbard, Jackson, Kittson, McLeod, Marshall,
Meeker, Mower, Murray, Nobles, Olmsted, Pennington, Ramsey,
Rice, Sherburne, Sibley, Stearns, Steele, Swift, Todd, and Wilkin
counties. Among the fifteen counties named for citizens of
this country outside of Minnesota, five are in honor of presi-
dents of the United States, these being Washingon, Polk, Fill-
more, Lincoln, and Grant. The ten others in this list are
Benton, Clay, Dodge, Douglas, Houston, Lyon, Martin, Scott,
Stevens, and Wright.

Six of our counties have names given by white men for
natural features, in addition to the larger number so derived
from the Indian languages. These are Itasca, taking the name
of the lake, formed of two Latin words; Lake county, named
for Lake Superior; Pine county, so named for its extensive
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pine forests; Pipestone county, for the Indian pipestone
quarry there; Rock county, for the very prominent rock out-
crop near Luverne; and St. Louis county, for its river of that
name. One county received its name, Norman, in honor of its
large number of immigrants from Norway.

The earliest systematic endeavor to trace the origins of
Minnesota county names was published by John Fletcher Wil-
liams, secretary of the Minnesota Historical Society, as an
article in the St. Paul Pioneer, March 13, 1870. Another con-
tribution to this subject, by Return I. Holcombe, of St. Paul,
was in the Pioneer Press Almanac, 1896. Both these lists
have been consulted@fth much advantage, for the present
volume.

In ascertaining derivations and meanings of Dakota and
Ojibway names, very valuable aid has been obtained from a
paper, “Minnesota Geographical Names derived from the Da-
kota Language, with some that are Obsolete,” by Prof. An-
drew W. Williamson, of Augustana College, Rock Island, Ill,,
published in the Thirteenth Annual Report of the Geological
and Natural History Survey of Minnesota, for 1884, pages 104-
112; and from another paper, in the Fifteenth Report of the
same survey, for 1886, pages 451-477, “Minnesota Geographi-
cal Names derived from the Chippewa Language,” by Rev.
Joseph A, Gilfillan, of White Earth, who also supplied in later
letters many further notes of Ojibway names. These two
papers are the most important sources of information on Min-
nesota geographic terms of Indian origin, supplementing the
frequent references to origins of names by Hennepin, Carver,
Mackenzie, Thompson, Pike, Long and Keating, Beltrami,
Schoolcraft, Allen, Featherstonhaugh, Catlin, Lea, Nicollet, and
other explorers of the area which is now Minnesota.

The narrations of these discoverers and explorers, and
many later books, pamphlets, newspapers, atlases, and maps,
have been examined in the Library of the Minnesota Histori-
cal Society. Special acknowledgments are due to the following
books and authors:

Grammar and Dictionary of the Dakota Language, edited
by Rev. Stephen R. Riggs, published by the Smithsonian In-
stitution, Washington, 1852; and a revised edition of the

[ 3
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greater part, a Dakota-English Dictionary, issued in 1890 as vol-
ume VII, “Contributions to North American Ethnology.”

An English-Dakota Dictionary, compiled by John P. Wil-
liamson, printed by the American Tract Society, 1902.

A Grammar of the Otchipwe [Ojibway] Language, 1878;
a Dictionary of the Otchipwe Language, Part I, English-
Otchipwe, 1878; and Part II, Otchipwe-English, 1880. These
are editions published in Montreal, of volumes by Bishop Fred-
eric Baraga, the Grammar having been first published in De-
troit, 1850, and the Dictionary in Cincinnati, 1853.

A Glossary of Chippewa Indian Names of Rivers, Lakes,
and Villages, by Rev. Chrysostom Verwyst, of Bayfield, Wis.,
in Acta et Dicta . . . of the Catholic Church in the
Northwest, published in St. Paul, volume IV, pages 253-274
July, 1916.

Handbook of American Indians north of Mexlco, edited by
Frederick W. Hodge, published by the Smithsonian Institu-
tion as Bulletin 30, Bureau of American Ethnology, two vol-
umes, 1907, 1910.

The Geological and Natural History Survey of Minne-
sota, 1872-1901, by Prof. N. H. Winchell, state geologist, and
assistants: Annual Reports, 24 volumes; Bulletins, 10 vol-
umes, treating partly of the mammals, birds, fishes, and the
flora; Final Reports, 6 volumes, having chapters for all the
counties and for the iron ore ranges.

Memoirs of Explorations in the Basin of the Mississippi,
by Hon. J. V. Brower, of St. Paul, eight volumes, 1898-1905.
Four of these volumes relate to parts of this state, being III,
Mille Lac, 1900; IV, Kathio, 1901; V, Kakabikansing, 1902;
and VI, Minnesota, 1903.

Minnesota Historical Society Collections, fifteen volumes,
1850-1915. Biographic references for places bearing names of
personal derivation have been supplied in the greater part by
the fourteenth volume, Minnesota Biographies, 1655-1912.

The Aborigines of Minnesota, a Report based on the col-
lections of Jacob V. Brower, and on the field surveys and
notes of Alfred J. Hill and Theodore H. Lewis, collated, aug-
mented and described by N. H. Winchell; published by the
Minnesota Historical Society, St. Paul, 1911,
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The Origin of Certain Place Names in the United States,
second edition, by Henry Gannett, published in 1905 as Bul-
letin 258 of the U. S. Geological Survey.

Complete Pronouncing Gazetteer or Geographical Dic-
tionary of the World, published by the J. B. Lippincott Com-
pany, 1911, two volumes.

A History of the Origin of the Place Names connected
with the Chicago & Northwestern and Chicago, St. Paul, Min-
neapolis & Omaha Railways, . . . compiled by one [W.
H. Stennett] who for more than 34 years has been an officer in
the employ of the system; Chicago, 1908.

In the early progress of this research, a paper by the
author, “Origin of Minnesota Geographic Names,” including
quite full notes for each county name, was read at a monthly
meeting of the executive council of the Minnesota Historical
Society, May 8, 1899; and a second address, entitled “The
Origin and Meaning of Minnesota Names of Rivers, Lakes,
Counties, Townships, and Cities,” was presented at an annual
meeting of this Society, January 11, 1904. These papers were
mainly published in a series of articles in the Office Blotter,
a Minneapolis journal issued chiefly for the interest of Minne-
sota county officers, April to August, 1904; and they were
again published with slight changes and additions in the Maga-
zine of History, New York, volume VIII, September to No-
vember, 1908. More condensed and somewhat revised, they

were embodied in a newspaper article, “Whence came the
Names of -Minnesota’s Counties,” in the St. Paul Pioneer
Press, November 19, 1911. After further revision, notes of
origins of the county names were published in numerous Min-
nesota daily newspapers, usually one county each day in alpha-
betic order, in the spring and summer of 1916.

For interviews with county officers, pioneer settlers, and
others, twenty counties of northern Minnesota were visited by
the author in the autumn of 1909; and in the year 1916, from
April to October, all the eighty-six counties were visited.
Such personal interviews, to some extent followed by corre-
spondence, have been the chief sources of information for most
parts of this work, except for the considerable list of counties
having published histories. Dates of organization of town-
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ships and villages are noted mainly from the county histories,
so that comparatively few dates are given under other coun-
ties.

Published and personal sources consulted for each county
are stated at the beginning of its catalogue of townships. To
the many citizens who have contributed notes of the origins of
place names, and of the names of streets and parks in our three
great cities, the author and the people of Minnesota are endur-
ingly indebted. Within the lifetime of pioneers who shared
in the first settlement and in all the development of this com-
monwealth, a careful record has been made of a very signifi-
cant portion of its history.

The first chapter of the book treats of general features,
as districts bearing topographic names, the state name and
sobriquets, and the larger lakes and rivers. Eighty-six chap-
ters treat of the place names of the counties in alphabetic
order. The name of each county is first somewhat fully
noticed ; next the townships and villages are listed in their
alphabetic series, preceded by the due mention of books and
persons supplying information for the county; and last are
records of lakes and streams, hills, prairies, and, in some of the
counties, Indian reservations, iron ore ranges, state and na-
tional forests, state parks, glacial lakes, beaches, and moraines.
. Localities of exceptional historic interest are found in nearly
every county. Origins of the names of streets, avenues, and
parks, in Minneapolis, St. Paul, and Duluth, are noted in the
final three chapters, so that the whole volume comprises ninety
chapters.

To find notations of any city, township, village, lake, river
or creek, hills and prairies, iron ranges, etc., the reader will
consult the Index, at the end of the volume, which is the key
to all its contents. An explanation of abbreviations used in
the Index is given on its first page.

WARReN UpHAM

MiINNEsoTA H:storicAL Sociery
St. PAauL
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GENERAL FEATURES

The most conspicuous geographic features of this state are its larger
rivers and lakes, including the Minnesota river, whence the state is named,
the Mississippi, largest of this continent, which here has its source and a
great part of its course, the Red river, the Rainy, St. Louis, and St. Croix
rivers, Lake Superior, adjoining Minnesota by 150 miles of its northwest
shore, Rainy lake and the Lake of the Woods, Red lake, Winnebagoshish
and Leech lakes, and Mille Lacs, each requiring mention as belonging
partly to two or more counties. Likewise the origins and meaning of the
names of many smaller rivers and lakes need to be given in this chapter,
to which reference may be made under their several counties, unless their
names, borne by counties, townships, or villages, are thus fully noticed.

DiSTRICTS BEARING TOPOGRAPHIC NAMES.

Only limited areas of Minnesota have low mountains or even any note-
worthy hills that bave received names. Such are hilly or somewhat
mountainous tracts on the Vermilion and Mesabi ranges, names which
designate belts having immense deposits of iron ores, noted under Itasca,
St. Louis, Lake and Cook counties. The first of these ranges was named
from the Vermilion lake and river in St. Louis county. The second has
an Ojibway name, spelled “Missabay Heights” by Nicollet, translated as
Giant mountain by Gilfillan. It is spelled Missabe, pronounced in three
syllables, by Baraga's Dictionary, which defines it as “Giant; also, a very
big stout man.” .

The third and more southern belt of iron ores, latest discovered bu
now having many and large mines, was named the Cuyuna range by its
discoverer, Cuyler Adams, from his own name and from his dog, Una,
who accompanied him in many prospecting trips. This iron range has no
prominently hilly tract.

From Duluth to the northeast corner of this state, the land rises gen-
erally 500 to 800 feet or more above Lake Superior within a few miles
back from its shore, forming the southern margin of a high wooded area
that reaches to the international boundary and is diversified by mostly low
ridges and hills. Seen from passing boats, the eroded front of this high-
land for about thirty miles in Cook county, from Carlton peak to Grand
Marais, presents a peculiarly serrate profile and is therefore commonly
called the Sawteeth mountains, more definitely noted for that county.

Morainic hills of the glacial drift, amassed along the borders of the
continental ice-sheet, are traced in twelve successive belts across this state.
The most noteworthy development of these hills is found in Otter Tail
county, where the eighth and ninth moraines are merged to form the
Leaf hills, called “mountains” by the settlers in contrast with the lower
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2 MINNESOTA GEOGRAPHIC NAMES

hills in other parts of the state, rising in steep slopes to heights of 200
to 350 feet along an extent of about twenty miles. Their name, more
fully considered in the county chapter, is translated from the Ojibway
name, which was thence applied by the Ojibways to the Leaf lakes and
river, and by the white people to Leaf Mountain township.

An important contrast is exhibited by the vegetation in different parts
of Minnesota. Forest covers its northeastern two-thirds, approximately,
while about one-third, lying at the south and southwest, and reaching in
the Red river valley to the Canadian line, as also the part of this valley
north to Lake Winnipeg, is prairie. Half of the state, on the northeast,
had originally extensive tracts of very valuable white pine and red pine,
which have been mostly cut off by lumbermen. Interspersed with these
and other evergreen species, as the spruces, balsam fir, and arbor vitae,
were tracts of maple, elm, bass, oaks, ash, and other deciduous trees. The
Big Woods, a translation from the early French name, Grand Bois, oc-
cupied a large area west of the Mississippi, including Wright, Carver,
Scott, and Le Sueur counties, with parts of adjacent counties. Until its
timber was cleared off for cultivation of the land in farms, this area was
heavily wooded with the deciduous forest, shedding its leaves before win-
ter, lying south of the geographic range of the pines and their allies..

In the great prairie region of southwestern Minnesota, and extending
northward into the northeast part of South Dakota, a large elevated dis-
trict is inclosed by the contour line of 1,500 feet above the sea. This area
comprises Pipestone county and the greater parts of Lincoln, Murray,
Nobles, and Rock counties in this state, having an entire length in the
two states of about 160 miles. It was named by the early French voyag-
eurs and explorers the Coteau des Prairies, as on Nicollet’s map, meaning,
in English, the Highland of the Prairies.

The many beautiful lakes of Alexandria and its vicinity, of the ad-
joining country southward to Glenwood and northwest to Fergus Falls,
and their landscapes of alternating woods and small openings of prairies,
have given the name Park Region to that district, lying between the un-
broken northeastern forest and the limitless prairie on the west.

Another area of many lakes and streams, having somewhat similar
features as the foregoing, but with a mainly less rolling and diversified
contour, excepting the valleys and inclosing bluffs of its rivers, was named
by Nicollet the Undine Region, comprising the country of the Blue Earth
river and its tributaries, as noticed in the chapter of Blue Earth county.

THE NAME OF THE STATE.

Minnesota received its name from the largest river which lies wholly
within its area, excepting only that its sources above Big Stone lake are
in South Dakota. During a hundred and fifty years, up to the time of
the organization of Minnesota Territory, in 1849, the name St. Pierre, or
St. Peter, had been generally applied to this river by French and Eng-
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lish explorers and writers. March 6, 1852, the territorial legislature
adopted a memorial to the President of the United States, requesting that
this name should be discontinued, and that only the aboriginal name should
be used for the river, the same as for the territory, by the different
government departments; and this was so decreed on June 19 of the
same year, by an act of Congress.

The old name, St. Peter’s river, of French derivation, seems prob-
ably to have been given in commemoration of its first exploration by
Pierre Charles Le Sueur. If so, however, his first journey up the Min-
nesota river was more than ten years before his expedition upon it in
the year 1700, when he mined what he supposed to be an ore of copper
in the bluffs of the Blue Earth river, near the site of Mankato; for the
St. Peter and St. Croix rivers are mentioned by these names in Perrot’s
proclamation at his Fort St. Antoine, on Lake Pepin, taking possession
of this region for France, dated May 8, 1689.

The Dakota or Sioux name Minnesota means sky-tinted water
(Minne, water, and sota, somewhat clouded), as Neill translated it on
the authority of Rev. Gideon H. Pond. The river at its stages of flood
becomes whitishly turbid. An illustration of the meaning of the words
was told to the present writer by Mrs. Moses N. Adams, the widow of
the well known missionary of the Dakotas. She stated that at various
times the Dakota women explained it to her by dropping a little milk into
water and calling the whitishly clouded water “Minne sota.”

Major Long in 1817 wrote that the Mississippi above the St. Croix had
a name meaning Clear river, and Dr. Folwell in 1919 concludes that the
Minnesota means this, contrasted with the very muddy Missouri.

In the years 1846 to 1848, Hon. Henry H. Sibley and Hon. Morgan L.
Martin, the delegate in Congress from Wisconsin, proposed this name
for the new territory, which thus followed the example of Wisconsin
in adopting the title of a large stream within its borders. During the
next few years, it displaced the name St. Peter as applied in common
usage by the white people to the river, whose euphonious Dakota title
will continue to be borne by the river and the state probably long after
the Dakota or Sioux language shall cease to be spoken.

Gen. James H. Baker, in an address on the history of Lake Superior,
before the Minnesota Historical Society at its annual meeting in 1879,
published in the third volume of its Collections (1880, pages 333-355),
directed attention, as follows, to a somewhat comparable Ojibway name
for the wooded northern part of this state.

“In one of my expeditions upon the north shore, being accompanied
by an intelligent Chippewa chief, I found the shrub, Balm of Gilead, a
small tree of medicinal virtue, in great abundance. He gave me its
Chippewa name as Mah-nu-sa-tia, and said it was the name given by
their people to all that country west of the great lake, because it was
the country yielding the Mah-nu-sa-tia. In conversing with other in-
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telligent Chippewas, I found this statement was invariably confirmed.
They claim it as the traditional name of the land to the west of the lake.”

This Ojibway word, however, had no influence upon the selection of
our territorial and state name. Indeed, it was generally unknown to
the white people here until more than twenty years after the Sioux name
was chosen.

The name Itasca, devised in 1832 by Schoolcraft with the aid of Rev.
William T. Boutwell for the lake at the head of the Mississippi, was
urged by Boutwell for the territory. Other names were suggested in
the discussions of Congress, as Chippeway, Jackson, and Washington.
Final choice of the name Minnesota was virtually decided in the con-
vention held at Stillwater on August 26, 1848, which petitioned to Con-
gress for territorial organization.

Carver, who wintered with the Sioux on the Minnesota river in 1766-
67, was the earliest author to record its Sioux name. He spelled it Mene-
sotor in his Travels and Menesoter on the accompanying map. It was
spelled Menesota by Long and Keating; Menisothé by Beltrami; Mini-
sotah by Nicollet; Minnay sotor by Featherstonhaugh; Minesota by Hon.
M. L. Martin and Hon. Stephen A. Douglas, in bills introduced by them
respectively in the House and Senate for organization of the territory;
and Minnesota by Hon. H. H. Sibley at the Stillwater convention.

SoBRIQUETS OF MINNESOTA.

Like Michigan, which is frequently called the Wolverine state, and
Wisconsin, the Badger state, Minnesota has a favorite sobriquet or nick-
name, the Gopher state. Its origin has been given by the late Judge
Flandrau, who, in his “History of Minnesota,” says that the beaver, as
well as the gopher, was advocated to give such a popular title,. The latter
gained the ascendancy, soon after the admission of Minnesota to state-
hood, on acoount of the famous “Gopher cartoon,” published in derision
of the Five Million Loan bill, which was passed by the first state legis-
lature to encourage the building of railroads. The striped gopher, com-
mon throughout our prairie region, is the species depicted by the cartoon.
(Minnesota in Three Centuries, 1908, vol. I, pages 75-76.)

Minnesota is also often called the North Star state, in allusion to the
motto, “L’ Etoile du Nord,” chosen by Governor Sibley for the state
seal in 1858.

Another epithet for our fertile commonwealth more recently came
into use from the Pan-American Exposition at Buffalo, N. Y., in 190],
where the superior exhibits of wheat, flour, and dairy products of Min-
nesota caused her to be called “the Bread and Butter state.”

THE MississipPPI.

The chief river of Minnesota, and indeed of North America, bears
for all time the Algonquian name which it received from the Ojibways
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who paddled their birch canoes on its head stream, within the area of
this state, and on the lakes at its sources. This name, Mississippi, means
simply the Great River. Such it is, being the second among the great
rivers of the world, surpassed only by the Amazon.

Jean Nicolet, the first white explorer of Wisconsin, in the winter of
1634-35, went from Lake Michigan and Green bay to Lake Winnebago
and the upper Fox river, and learned there from the Indians that the
sea, as he understood them to say, was within three days’ travel farther
to the southwest. What he heard of was the Mississippi river.

It was first made known by name to Europeans in the Jesuit Relation
of 1666-67, published in Paris in 1668, which mentions “the great river
named Messipi.” The Relation of 1670-71 gave a more definite descrip-
tion as follows: “It is a Southward course that is taken by the great
river called by the natives Missisipi, which must empty somewhere in
the region of the Florida sea, more than four hundred leagues hence
(from the upper Great Lakes) * * * Some Savages have assured us
that this is so noble a river that, at more than three hundred leagues’
distance from its mouth, it is larger than the one flowing before Quebec;
for they declare that it is more than a league wide [referring probably
to its expansion in Lake Pepin]. They also state that all this vast stretch
of country consists of nothing but treeless prairies.”

Earlier names had been given by the Spaniards to this river in its
lower part, seen by their expeditions. Thus, on the map resulting from
Pineda’s exploration of the Gulf coast in 1519, the Mississippi is named
Rio del Espiritu Santo (River of the Holy Spirit) ; and it continued to
be commonly or frequently mapped under that name until its present
Algonquian designation was generally adopted.

Father Marquette, writing of his canoe voyage on this river in 1673,
with Joliet, called it the Missisipi, but his map named it “R. de la Con-
ception.” .

Hennepin, in the first edition of his travels, published in Paris in 1683,
called the Mississippi the River Colbert, for the great French statesman
who died that year, and so mapped it; but later editions named and
mapped it as “Le Grand Fleuve Meschasipi.”

La Salle, writing August 22, 1682, designated is as “the river Colbert,
named by the Iroquois Gastacha, and by the Ottawas the Mississipy.”
Elsewhere, however, in the same and other writings, La Salle and his
companions more commonly used only the latter name, spelling it
Mississipi.

Perrot, after spending many years on the upper part of this river,
in his Memoir written in 1718 or within two or three years later, spoke
of “the Micissypy, which is now named the Louisianne;” and a French
map published in 1718 gives the name as “the Missisipi or St. Louis.”

Carver, who traveled into the area of Minnesota in 1766, described
and mapped this river with its present spelling, Mississippi, which was



6 MINNESOTA GEOGRAPHIC NAMES

followed by Pike, Cass and Schoolcraft, Long and Keating, Beltrami,
and all later writers. Before this form became fully established, the
name, as printed in books and maps, had many variations, which, accord-
ing to an estimate by Dr. Elliott Coues, number probably thirty or more.

The first part of the name, Missi, means Great, being akin to the
modern Ojibway word, Kitchi, great, or Gitche, as it is spelled by Long-
fellow in “The Song of Hiawatha”; and the second part, sippi, other-
wise spelled sipi or sebe, or zibi, is the common Algonquian or Ojibway
word for a river. This name, received from the Ojibways and other
Algonquins by the earliest French missionaries and traders in the upper
Mississippi region, though used by these Indians only for the upper part
of the river as known to them, was extended by Marquette and Joliet
and by La Salle to its entire course, displacing the numerous former In-
dian names which had been applied to its lower part.

Rev. J. A. Gilfillan wrote: “Below the junction of Leech Lake river,
it is called Kitchi-zibi, or Great river. I cannot find by inquiry that the
Chippewas have ever called it Missizibi (Mississippi) or Missazibi. But
I consider it very probable that in remote times they did, for Missa-zibi
(Mississippi) would express the same idea in their language, and would
be proper, as witness Missa-sagaiigun (Mille Lacs), meaning Great lake.
It so exactly corresponds with their language that it must have been
taken from it.”

Endeavoring to translate more fully the aboriginal significance of
Missi, Gannett says that Mississippi means ‘“great water,” or “gathering
in of all the waters,” and “an almost endless river spread out.”

The phrase, “Father of Waters,” popularly given to this river; has no
warrant in the Algonquian name. In 1854 Schoolcraft wrote: “The
prefixed word Missi is an adjective denoting all, and, when applied to
various waters, means the collected or assembled mass of them, * * *
It is only symbolically that it can be called the Father of American riv-
ers, unless such sense occurs in the other Indian tongues.”

RED LAKE AND RIVER.

Red lake is translated from its Ojibway name, which, like Vermilion
lake, refers to the red and vermilion hues of the smooth water surface
reflecting the color of the sky at sunset on calm evenings in summer, as
noted in the chapters of Red Lake county and St. Louis county. The
Red river, named from the lake, is the boundary of Minnesota at the
west side of six counties, flowing thence to Lake Winnipeg. Its more
distinctive name, Red river of the North, was used by Nicollet to dis-
tinguish it from the Red river tributary to the lower Mississippi.

An exceedingly flat plain adjoins the Red river, having an impercep-
tible descent northward, as also from each side to its.central line. Along
the axial depression the river has cut a channel twenty to sixty feet
deep. It is bordered by only few and narrow areas of-bottomland, in-
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stead of which its banks usually rise steeply on one side, and by mod-
erate slopes on the other, to the broad valley plain which thence reaches
nearly level ten to twenty-five miles from the river. This vast plain,
lying half in Minnesota and half in North Dakota, with continuation
into Manitoba and so stretching from Lake Traverse and Breckenridge
north to Lake Winnipeg, a distance of 300 miles, is the widely famed
Red River Valley, one of the most productive wheat-raising districts of
the world.

GrAciAL LAKE AcGAssiz AND RIiVER WARREN.

The farmers and other residents of this fertile plain are well aware
that they live on the area once occupied by a great lake; for its beaches,
having the form of smoothly rounded ridges of gravel and sand, a few
feet high, with a width of several rods, are observable extending hori-
zontally long distances upon each of the slopes which rise east and west
of the valley plain. Hundreds of farmers have located their buildings
on the beach ridges as the most dry and sightly spots on their land;
affording opportunity for perfectly drained cellars even in the most wet
spring seasons, and also yielding to wells, dug through this sand and
gravel, better water than is usually obtainable in wells on the adjacent
clay areas.

Numerous explorers of this region, from Long and Keating in 1823,
to Gen. G. K. Warren in 1868 and Prof. N. H. Winchell in 1872, ob-
served the lacustrine features of the valley; and the last named geolo-
gist first gave what is now generally accepted as the true explanation of
the lake's existence, namely, that it was produced in the closing stage
of the Glacial period by the dam of the continental ice-sheet at the time
of its final melting away. As the border of the ice-sheet retreated
northward along the valley, drainage from it could not flow as now
freely to the north through Lake Winnipeg and into the ocean at Hudson
bay, but was turned southward by the ice barrier to the lowest place on
the watershed dividing this basin from that of the Mississippi. The
lowest point is found at Brown’s Valley, on the western boundary of
Minnesota, where an ancient watercourse, about 125 feet deep and one
mile to one and a half miles wide, extends from Lake Traverse, at the
head of the Bois des Sioux, a tributary of the Red river, to Big Stone
lake, through which the head stream of the Minnesota river passes in
its course to the Mississippi and the Gulf of Mexico.

Detailed exploration of the shore lines and area of this lake was

" begun by the present writer for the Minnesota Geological Survey in
the years 1879 to 1881, under the direction of Professor Winchell, the
state geologist. In subsequent years I was employed in tracing the lake
shores through North Dakota for the United States Geological Survey,
and through southern Manitoba to the distance of 100 miles north from
the international boundary to Riding mountain, for the Geological Survey
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of Canada. For the last named survey, also, Mr. J. B. Tyrrell extended
the exploration of the shore lines more or less completely for 200 miles
farther north, along the Riding and Duck mountains and the Porcupine
and Pasquia hills, west of Lakes Manitoba and Winnipegosis, to the
Saskatchewan river.

This glacial lake was named in the eighth annual report of the Min-
nesota Geological Survey, for the year 1879, in honor of Louis Agassiz,
the first prominent advocate of the theory of the formation of the drift
by land ice. The outflowing river, whose channel is now occupied by
Lakes. Traverse and Big Stone and Brown’s Valley, was named, in a
paper read before the American Association for the Advancement of
Science at its Minneapolis meeting in 1883, the River Warren, in com-
memoration of General Warren’s admirable work in the United States
Engineering Corps, in publishing maps and reports of the Minnesota and
Mississippi river surveys. Descriptions of Lake Agassiz and the River
Warren were partly given in the eighth and eleventh annual reports of
~ the Minnesota Geological Suryey, and in the first, second, and fourth
volumes of its final report. Monograph XXV of the U. S. Geological
Survey, “The Glacial Lake Agassiz,” published in 1896, treats of its en-
tire explored extent (658 pages, with many maps). Its area exceeded
that of the state of Minnesota, being about 110,000 square miles, or more
than the united areas of the five Great Lakes that outflow to the St.
Lawrence river.

LAKE SUPERIOR AND OTHER LAKES AND RIVERs.

The name of Lake county refers to its adjoining the Grand Lac of
Champlain’s map in 1632, which was mapped under its present name,
Lake Superior, by Marquette in 1673. Its being the greatest lake in the
series flowing to the St. Lawrence, or even the greatest freshwater lake
in the world, was noted in the name used by Champlain, in translation
from Kitchigumi of the Ojibways. Superior means simply the Upper
lake in that series.

Rainy lake and river are likewise translations from their aboriginal
and early French names. From the narration of a French voyageur,
Jacques de Noyon, who was there in 1688 or within a year or two ear-
lier or later, we have the name Ouchichiq or Koochiching, given by the
Crees to this river and adopted by the Ojibways. Joseph la France,
traveling there in 1740, noted the derivation of the name Lac de la Pluie,
meaning in English the Lake of the Rain, from the mist of the falls of
Rainy river at the present city named International Falls. Further con- -
sideration of these names is given for Koochiching county.

On the sketch map drawn in 1730 by an Assiniboine named Ochagach
for Verendrye, the Lake of the Woods is unnamed, but the country at
its north side is shown as inhabited by the Crees. In 1737 and 1754 it
was mapped as Lac des Bois, from which the English name is translated.
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La France, in 1740, recorded its aboriginal names, in translation, as
“Lake Du Bois, or Des Isles,” that is, the Lake of the Woods or of
the Islands. It is entirely surrounded by woods, though the border of
the great prairie region is not far westward; and its second name was
given for the multitude of islands in its northern part. The Ojibway
name of its broad southern part, adjoining Beltrami and Roseau coun-
ties, as noted by Gilfillan and Verwyst, refers to the sand dunes of Oak
point and Sable island, at the mouth of Rainy river, whence this part
was frequently called Sand Hill lake by the early fur traders.

The St. Louis river is duly noticed for the county named from it, with
mention of its earlier French name as the river of Fond du Lac, so called
because there the series of falls and rapids along its last fifteen miles
descends to the level of Lake Superior. The Ojibways name it Kitchi-
* gumi zibi, Lake Superior river. :

Cass lake, early known as Red Cedar lake in translation from the
Ojibways, was renamed in honor of General Lewis Cass, who, with
Schoolcraft as historian of his expedition, visited it in 1820, regarding it
as the chief source of the Mississippi. He is also commemorated by Cass
county, for which the names of this lake and of Winnebagoshish and
Leech lakes are fully noticed.

Thief river, lying mostly in Marshall county and having its source in
Thief lake, is translated from the Ojibway name, which is explained for
the city at its mouth, Thief River Falls, in Pennington county.

Clearwater river, lying in three counties, one of which bears this
name, is again a translation from the QOjibways, like Eau Claire, of the
same meaning, which designates a river, a county, and its city and county
seat, in Wisconsin.

The Wild Rice river, and the lakes so named near its source, are
translations from Manomin or Mahnomen, the native grain much used
and highly prized by the Ojibway people as a staple part of their food,
noted more in detail for Mahnomen county.

Crow Wing river and the county named from it present another
translation from these Indians, for the outline of an island at the junc-
tion of this river with the Mississippi, which they fancifully compared
with the wing of a raven. Farther south, on the boundary between
Wright and Hennepin counties, they applied to the Crow river a different
name, correctly designating our American crow, the marauder of newly
planted cornfields. These names, with the Ojibway words from which
they were translated, are again noticed in the chapter of Crow Wing
county.

Sauk river in Todd and Stearns counties, Osakis lake at its source,
lying partly in Douglas county, and the villages and cities of Osakis, Sauk
Center, and Sauk Rapids, the last being on the east side of the Missis-
sippi opposite to the mouth of the Sauk river, derived their names from
a small party of Sac or Sauk Indians, who came as refugees from their
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own country in Wisconsin and lived near Osakis lake, as related for the
township and village of Sauk Rapids in Benton county.

Mille Lacs, as named by the French, meaning “a thousand lakes,” bore
a Sioux name, 'Mde Wakan, nearly like Mini Wakan, their equivalent
name which is translated Spirit lake in Jowa. Its Ojibway name is Minsi
or Missi sagaigon, as spelled respectively by Nicollet in 1843 and De L’
Isle in 1703, meaning Great lake, just as the Mississippi is the Great river.
These names are more elaborately reviewed in the chapter for Mille Lacs
county, which also notes the origin of the name Rum river, the outlet
of this lake.

Kettle river, in Carlton and Pine counties, is noticed for the latter in
explanation of the name of Kettle River township.

The Pine lakes and river and the Ojibway village of Chengwatana,
meaning Pine village, gave the names of Pine county and Pine City, its
county seat.

Snake river is translated from the Ojibway name, Kanabec sibi, which
has several other spellings. Kanabec, retained as the designation of a
county, with its accent on the second syllable, is widely different in both
pronunciation and meaning from the Kennebec river in Maine.

St. Croix river, which, with the expansion of its lowest twenty miles
in Lake St. Croix, forms the boundary of this state on the east side of
Pine, Chisago, and Washington counties, was called the River du Tom-
beau (Tomb or Grave river) by Hennepin in 1680, “R. de la Magdeleine”
on Franquelin’s map in 1688, and the River St. Croix (Holy Cross) by
Perrot’s proclamation in 1689 and by the Relation of Penicaut in 1700.
A cross had been set at its mouth, as noted by Penicaut, probably to
mark the grave of some French trader-or voyageur. La Harpe, writing
of Le Sueur’s expedition in 1700, which was the theme of Penicaut’s
Relation, described this stream as “a great river called St. Croix, because
a Frenchman of that name was wrecked at its mouth.”

Lake Pepin bears this name on De L’ Isle’s map of Canada or New
France, published in 1703. It may have been chosen, as stated by Gan-
nett, in honor of Pepin le Bref, king of the Franks, who was born in 714
and died in 768. He was a son of Charles Martel, and was the father of
Charlemagne. Very probably the name was placed on the map by De L’
Isle under request of his patron, the king of France. Pepin was an in-
frequent personal surname among the French settlers of Canada, whence
many explorers and traders came to this region, but history has failed
to record for whom and why this large lake of the Mississippi was so
named. Hennepin, in his narration and map, had called it Lac des
Pleurs (Lake of Tears), because there, as he wrote, some of the Sioux
by whom he had been taken captive, with his companions, “wept the whole
night, to induce the others to consent to our death.” Penicaut named it
Lac Bon Secours, meaning Lake Good Help, apparently in allusion to
the abundance of buffaloes and other game found in its vicinity. This
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name, Bon Secours, and another, River des Boeufs, that is, River of
Buffaloes, were early applied to the Chippewa river in Wisconsin, which
was the geologic cause of Lake Pepin,by bringing much alluvium into
the valley of the Mississippi below the lake. Its origin was thus like that
of Lake St. Croix, and like Lac qui Parle on the Minnesota river.

Cannon river, joining the Mississippi at the head of Lake Pepin, is
changed from its earlier French name, River aux Canots, meaning Canoe
river, which alluded to canoes frequently left in concealment near its
mouth by Indians and by French traders, especially when going on the
hunt for buffaloes in the adjoining prairie country. The present erro-
neous name, losing its original significance, comes from the narratives of
Pike’s expedition in 1805-06 and of Long's expeditions in 1817 and 1823.
Pike used both names, Canoe river when telling of his voyage up the
Mississippi, and Cannon river in the journal of his return. Nicollet, in
his report and map published in 1843, called it Lahontan river and also
Cannon river, supposing it to be identifiable as the Long river of Baron
Lahontan’s “New Voyages to North America,” which purported to relate
his travel here in the winter of 1688-89. That stream, however, with later
knowledge seems instead to be entirely fictitious (anesota in Three
Centuries, 1908, vol. I, pages 239-241).

According to Nicollet, the name given by the Sioux to Cannon river
was Inyan bosndata, in translation Standing Rock. ‘It referred to the
unequally eroded rock column or spire called by the white settlers Castle
Rock, whence a township and railway station near this river in Dakota
county are named.

Zumbro river bears a name more remarkably changed from its origi-
nal form than the Cannon river, being derived from the early French
name, River des Embarras, meaning River of Difficulties. Its surface in
its lower course and on the Mississippi bottomland was obstructed by
driftwood, as noted by Albert Lea in the expedition with Kearny in
1835. This burden and embarrassment prevented or hindered its navi-
gation by the canoes of the French voyageurs for the fur trade. Two vil-
lages on the river are named Zumbrota and Zumbro Falls, respectively in
Goodhue and Wabasha counties, for which these names are more fully
considered. In St. Louis county, the large river whence it is named
receives two tributaries that were likewise each named River des Em-
barras by the French, because of their burden of driftwood, the upper
one being now the Embarrass river, and the lower now called Floodwood
river. Forsyth in 1819 noted this stream as Driftwood river.

Beside the Zumbro in Goodhue county, the township and village of
Pine Island recall its Sioux name, Wazi Oju, as the river is called on
Nicollet’s map, signifying Pines Planted, in allusion to the grove of large
white pines adjoining this village.

Root river, the most southeastern large tributary to the Mississippi
in this state, rising in Mower county and flowing through Olmsted, Fill-
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more, and Houston counties, was called Racine river by Pike, Root river
by Long in 1817, and both its Sioux name, Hokah, and the English trans-
lation, Root, are used in Keating’s Narrative of Long's expedition in
1823. With more strictly accurate spelling and pronunciation, the Sioux
or Dakota word is Hutkan, meaning Racine in the French language and
Root in English, while the Sioux word Hokah means a heron. Racine
township and railway village in Mower county, and Hokah, similarly the
name of a township and village in Houston county, were derived from
the river.

Tributaries of the Minnesota river to be mentioned here are the
Pomme de Terre and Chippewa rivers, from the north; the Lac qui Parle
river, having the French name of a lake through which the Minnesota
flows, and the Yellow Medicine, Redwood, Cottonwood, and Blue Earth
rivers, from the southwest and south; and Watonwan and Le Sueur
rivers, which flow into the Blue Earth. Each of these streams, except-
ing the first, is most fully noticed for a county bearing its name; and
the Pomme de Terre lake and river, translated by the French from the
Sloux, are noticed for a township so named in Grant county. It is note-
worthy that our names of all these rivers, excepting Le Sueur, which
commemorates the early French explorer, were originally received from
the Sioux or Dakota people, who had long inhabited this part of Min-
nesota when the first explorers and settlers came. Only Watonwan,
however, retaing its form as a Sioux word.

Four streams that have their sources in this state and flow into Iowa,
namely, the Rock, Des Moines, Cedar, and Upper Iowa rivers, will com-
plete this list.

Rock river, translated from its Sioux name, refers to the prominent
rock hill, commonly now called “the Mound,” which rises precipitously
west of this river in Mound township of Rock county, the most south-
western in Minnesota. Both the township and county, like the river,
were named for this high outcrop of red quartzite. The same rock for-
mation, continuing north in Pipestone county, includes the renowned
Pipestone Quarry, whence came the names of that county, its county
seat, and the creek that flows past the quarry.

The Des Moines river flows through Murray, Cottonwood, and Jack-
son counties, thence crosses Iowa, gives its name to the capital of that
state, and joins the Mississippi at its southeast corner. Franquelin in
1688 and De L’ Isle in 1703 mapped it as “R. des Moingona,” the name
being taken from an Indian village, Moingona, shown by Franquelin not
far from the site of the present village of this name in Boone county,
near the center of Iowa. The name was spelled by Pike as De Moyen
and Des Moyan; Long called it De Moyen; and Beltrami, Le Moine and
Monk river. It has three names on Nicollet's map: “Inyan Shasha of
the Sioux,” meaning Red Stone, in allusion to its flowing through a gorge -
of red sandstone in Marion county, Iowa; “Moingonan of the Algonkins,”
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from the early maps; and “Des Moines of the French,” meaning the
River of the Monks. The third name, which has been too long in use
to be changed, is an erroneous translation by the early traders, based
merely on the pronunciation of the old Algonquian name. An interesting
paper on its origin, by Dr. Charles R. Keyes, is in the Annals of Iowa
(third series, vol, III, pages 554-9, with three maps, Oct., 1898).

Cedar river, flowing from Dodge and Mower oounties in this state,
is the longest stream of mnortheastern Iowa. Like the Missouri river,
which exceeds the upper Mississippi in length, it is tributary to a shorter
stream, the lowa river, about twenty-five miles above the junction of the
latter with the Mississippi. Red cedar trees, whose fragrant red wood
is much esteemed for chests and other furniture, growing in many places
along the bluffs of this river, supplied its aboriginal name, translated
by Nicollet and on present maps as Red Cedar river. Its upper part, in
this state, is more commonly called simply Cedar river; and its two
chief cities, in Iowa, are named Cedar Rapids and Cedar Falls. The
same name, Red Cedar, was derived in translation from the Ojibways
for the lake of the upper Mississippi renamed as Cass lake, and for the
present Cedar lake in Aitkin county, besides numerous other relatively
small lakes, streams, and islands, in various parts of Minnesota. Far
northward the full name Red Cedar was used in distinction from the
arbor vitae, which often is called white cedar, having stmllarly durable
wood of a light color.

Upper Iowa river begins in Mower county, runs meandermgly along
parts of the south line of Fillmore county, and passes southeast and east
in Jowa to the Mississippi near the northeast corner of that state, which
is named from the larger Iowa river flowing past Iowa Falls and.Iowa
City. The application of the name to a district west of the Mississippi,

~and later to the territory and state, as first used for the district by Lieu-
tenant Albert M. Lea in 1836, has been well told by Prof. Benjamin F.
‘Shambaugh in the volume of Annals of Iowa before cited for the Des
Moines river (third series, III, 641-4, Jan., 1899), with fourteen refer-
ences to preceding papers and books that treat of the origin of the state
name. It was originally the name of a Siouan tribe living there, whose
hunting grounds extended north to the Blue Earth and Minnesota rivers
at the time of Le Sueur’s expedition in 1700-01. Their tribal name,
spelled in many ways, was translated “sleepy ones” by Riggs, being analo-
gous with the name of the Sioux chief Sleepy Eye, who is commemo-
rated by a city in Brown county. The Handbook of American Indians
gives more than seventy-five variations in the former spelling of the
name that now is established in common use as Iowa (Part I, 1907, page
614).



AITKIN COUNTY

This county, established May 23, 1857, and organized June 30, 1871,
was named for William Alexander Aitkin, a fur trader with the Ojibway
Indians. He was born in Scotland in 1785; came from Edinburgh to
America in his boyhood ; and about the year 1802 came to the Northwest,
being in the service of a trader named John Drew. Aitkin married into
an influential Indian family; was soon a trader on his own account; and
rapidly advanced until in 1831 he took charge of the Fond du Lac de-
partment of the American Fur Company, under John Jacob Astor, with
headquarters at Sandy Lake, in this county, adjoining the east side of the
Mississippi river. He died September 16, 1851, and is buried on the east
bank of the Mississippi, opposite to the mouth of Swan river, in Morrison
county, where he had a trading post during his last nine years, after 1842,

The name of Aitkin county was at first erroneously spelled Aiken,
with which it is identical in pronunciation, and it was changed to its pres-
ent spelling in 1872 by an act of the legislature.

L 4
TowNSHIPS AND VILLAGES.

Information of the origins of township names was received from
Thomds R. Foley, Jr.,, real estate and insurance agent, and Carl E.
Taylor, court commissioner, both of Aitkin, during a visit there in May,
1916. .

AITKIN township bears the same name as the county. Its village, also
bearing this name, was founded in 1870, as a station of the Northern
Pacific railroad, which in that year was built through the county; and the
‘next year, in the county organization, it was made the county seat.

Bain township, and its railway station of the same name, are in honor
ot William Bain, the hotel owner, who is one of the proprietors of the
station site,

BaLL BLurr township should be Bald Bluff, being for the conspicuous
morainic drift hill so named, having a bald grassy top without trees, in
section 32 of this township, at the east side of the Mississippi.

BaLsam township is from two species of trees that are common or
frequent in this county, the balsam fir and the balsam poplar.

Beavez was named for beavers and their dams, found by the earliest
settlers on the head streams of Split Rock river, in the south part of
this township. .

CLark township had early settlers of this name, one being Frank
Clark, who removed to McGregor.

CorNisH was named for Charles E. and Milo F. Cornish, settlers in
section 34 of this township, coming from southern Minnesota.

14
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Davipson is for A. D. Davidson, senior partner in the Davidson and
McRae Stock Farm Company, of Duluth, and later of Winnipeg, owners
of numerous tracts of land in this township. He died in Rochester,
Minn., April, 1916. .

Dick township was named in honor of Miss Mildred Dick, assistant
in the office of the county auditor.

EsQuaGAMAH township derived its name from Esquagamah lake,
crossed by its east side. This is an Ojibway name, meaning the last
lake, given to it as the last and most western in a series of three lakes
lying mainly in Waukenabo township, which is named for the most eastern
of these lakes.

FarM IsLAND township is from its lake of this name, having an island
of 29 acres, on which the Ojibways formerly had large cultivated fields.

FLEMING township has Fleming lake, in section 22, named for an early
settler there.

GLEN bears a euphonidus name selected by its settlers at the time of
the township organization.

HAuGEN township is named in honor of Christopher G. Haugen,
former sheriff of this county.

HazevtoN is for Cutler J. Hazelton, a former county commissioner
whose homestead was on Pine lake in this township. Cutler post office,
on the south side of this lake, was also named for him.

Nichols post office, beside Mille Lacs in the southwest corner of
Hazelton, was named for Austin R. Nichols, its postmaster, who settled
there in 1879. A biographic sketch is given under the city of Austin,
Mower county, also named in his honor.

Hesron township was doubtless named by settlers coming from a
town of this name in some eastern state. The original Hebron is a very
ancient town in Palestine.

Hrr LAke township, and its village, named Hill City, as also its Hill
lake, are all so designated from the prominent hill of morainic drift in
section 25. This is the culminating point of a very knolly and broken
tract of the same moraine extending into the adjoining sections, to which
locality, and especially to its highest part, the Ojibways applied the name
Pikwadina (or Piquadinaw), “it is hilly.” Hence came the common name
“Poquodenaw mountain,” used by the lumbermen and given to this hill
on the map of Aitkin county in the Minnesota Geological Survey.

Ipun township is named for a place in Sweden.

JevNE township bears the surname of a Scandinavian family early
settling there.

JewerT township honors D. M. Jewett, a pioneer in section 20.

KiuBerLy township was named from its station established when the
Northern Pacific railroad was built in 1870, in honor of Moses C. Kim-
berly, of St. Paul. He was born in Sandisfield, Mass., December 1, 1845;
came to Minnesota in 1870, as a surveyor and engineer for this railnoad;
was during many years its general superintendent.
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LAxesme township is at the east side of Mille Lacs.

LEeg township was named in honor of Olaf Lee, a pioneer Norwegian
farmer in section 18, °

Le May township was named for Frank Le May, one of the first set-
tlers.

Lieey township is for Mark Libby, who long ago was a fur trader
chere with the Indians, on the outlet of Sandy lake.

LoGaN township was named for the long and narrow lakes, often
shaped like a horseshoe or ox-bow, which lie 21 abandoned parts of the
old channels of the Mississippi, occurring frequently in this and other
townships. For these lakes of the alluvial land adjoining the river the
name “logans” has been in common use in Aitkin county during the fifty
years or more since the region was first invaded by lumbermen. (Geology
of Minn., vol. IV, pages 26-27.)

McGreGor township was named after the station and village of the
Northern Pacific railroad in section 31, which also became a station and
junction of the Soo line.

MAcviLLE township is for pioneer Scotch settlers there named McAninch
and McPheters. . .

MaLMo township. is named for the large city of Malmo in southern
Sweden, on the Sound opposite to Copenhagen. '

MiLwArDp township was named for one of its early settlers.

Morrison township was named for Edward Morrison, one of its
pioneer farmers.

NoroLAND township bears the name of a large district in northern
Norway.

PLINY township has the name of a celebrated naturalist of ancient
Rome.

QuapNA (each syllable having the sound of a in fall) is shortened from
the earlier name of Piquadinaw, first given to this township on account
of its tracts of knolly and hilly drift extending eastward from the high
hill so named by the Ojibways, as before mentioned, in Hill Lake township.

Rice RiveEr township received its name from its being crossed by the
head streams of the Rice river, named, like the large Rice lake, from wild
rice (Zizania aquatica), which was harvested by the Indians as a very
valuable natural food supply.

SALo township was named by its Finn settlers for a town in south-
western Finland.

SEAVEY township was named for a family residing in Aitkin, one of
whom, Frank E. Seavey, has been during many years the clerk of the
county court. .

SEAMROCK was named by Irish settlers for the trifoliate plant long
ago chosen as the national emblem of Ireland.

SHoveL LAKE township and its railway station were named for Shovel
lake, crossed by the south line of the township.
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SPALDING township was named in honor of John L. Spalding, former
treasurer of this county.

SPENCER township is for William Spencer, who was a druggist in
Aitkin, but removed to Texas.

TAMARACK is a village of the Northern Pacific railroad in Clark town-
ship.

Turner township is for L. E. Turner, formerly a county commissioner.

VErDON township and post office were named for Verdon Wells, son of
£. B. Wells, the postmaster. )

WaAGNER township was named for a former assistant in the office of
the county register of deeds, Bessie Wagner, who now is Mrs. Hammond,
living in Montana.

WAUKENABo township (accented on the syllable next to the last, with
the sound of ah) has the Ojibway name of the eastern one of its series
of three lakes. Gilfillan wrote it with a somewhat different spelling:
“Wakonabo sagaiigun, the lake of the broth of wakwug or fish milt, or
eggs-broth lake; or Broth-of-moss-growing-on-rocks-or-trees lake. The
Indians use the latter in case of starvation. Both the above explanations
are given by different Indians.”

WEALTHEWoOOD is a name proposed by Mrs. Daniel J. Knox, of Aitkin,
for the lakeside summer resort platted in section 20 of this fractional
township, which previously was a part of Nordland.

WHaItE ELx township bears the name of the lake crossed by its east
line, translated from its Ojibway name.

WiLLiaMs township was named in honor of George T. Williams, of
Aitkin, who during many years was the county judge of probate.

WorkMAN township is thought to be named for a pioneer settler there,
who later removed from the county.

LAKES AND STREAMS.

Nicollet’s map, published in 1843, gives the following names of lakes
and streams partly or wholly within the area of Aitkin county, as they
have since continued in use: the Mississippi river, Willow and Little
Willow rivers, West and East Savanna rivers, Lake Aitkin, Sandy lake,
and Mille Lacs.

Other names which survive with slight changes from that map are
Prairie river, tributary to the West Savanna, called Little Prairie river
by Nicollet; Mud lake and river, tributary to the Mississippi at Aitkin,
which were called Muddy lakes and river; and Cedar lake, Nicollet’s Red
Cedar lake, which Pike in 1805-06 called the Lower Red Cedar lake (to
distinguish it from the Upper Red Cedar lake, far up the Mississippi,
renamed in 1820 Lake Cassina, now Cass lake).

The very elaborate “Historico-Geographical Chart of the Upper Mis-
sissippi River,” published by Dr. Elliott Coues in 1895 with his annotated
edition of Pike’s Expeditions, includes interesting notes of successive
geographic names and their dates in Aitkin county.
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Willow river was called Alder river by Schoolcraft in 1820 and like-
wise in 1855. It flows through a nearly level and largely swampy area,
which bears abundant willows and alders. Its Ojibway name is translated
Willow river by Gilfillan.

West Savanna river was so called in 1820 by Schoolcraft. The Savanna
rivers, West and East, retain these names as given by the early French
voyageurs; but this word, nearly equivalent to prairie, was originally
of American origin. It was a Carib word, and was introduced into Euro-
pean languages by Spanish writers near the middle of the sixteenth
century. By the Ojibways the East Savanna river was named Mushki-
gonigumi sibi, “the marsh-portage river,” having reference to the very
marshy portage made on this much used canoe route in passing to the
West Savanna river and Sandy lake.

The early French name of Sandy lake was Lac au Sable or du Sable.
The French and English alike translated it from the Ojibway name,
recorded by both Gilfillan and Verwyst as Ga-mitawangagumag Sagaiigun,
“the-place-of-bare-sand lake.” The Northwest Company established a
trading post on the west shore of this lake in 1794, which was visited by
David Thompson in 1798 and by Pike in January, 1806; but before the
time of Aitkin's taking charge there in 1831 the old post had been aban-
doned for a new site at the mouth of the outlet of Sandy lake, on the
narrow point between the outlet and the Mississippi river.

Rice river and its tributary Rice lake (named Lake Dodge by Nicollet,
probably for Governor Henry Dodge of Wisconsin), also another Rice
lake, of very irregular outline, lying close south of Sandy lake, received
their names, as before noted in connection with Rice River township, from
their large and valuable supplies of the excellent native grain called wild
rice. The Ojibway name of the wild rice, Manomin, is applied to this
stream on Nicollet’s map, in the common form of its spelling as given in
Baraga’s Dictionary. Another form is Mahnomen, given to a county of
this state. Its French translation is Folle Avoine, meaning in our lan-
guage “false or fool oat,” nearly like the name, “Wild Oats river,” used
for this Rice river by Beltrami in 1823,

White Elk brook or creek, like the township of this name, is so called,
in the Ojibway usage, for the lake of its source.

Moose river, tributary to Willow river, is translated from its Ojibway
name, given by Gilfillan as Moz-oshtigwani sibi, Moosehead river. It
receives the outflow of several small lakes, of which the most eastern,
called Moose lake, in Macville, has been mainly drained.

Little Willow river is named, like the larger stream that often is called
Big Willow river, for its plentiful willows.

Sisabagama lake (accented on the middle syllable, with the long vowel
sound) and the outflowing creek or river of the same name, close east
of Aitkin, have had various spellings. Gilfillan speiled and defined this
Ojibway name as Sesabeguma lake, “Every-which-way lake, or the lake
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which has arms running in all directions”; but such description is not
applicable to this lake, unless it be considered to include the group of
several neighboring lakes which together are tributary to this stream. -

Snake and Little Snake rivers, having their sources in the southeast
part of Aitkin county and flowing south into Kanabec county, are trans-
lations from their OQjibway names, as is noted in the chapter on that
county, which bears the aboriginal name of the Snake river.

Cowan’s brock, in Williams township, tributary to the Snake river, was
named for an early lumberman there.

Pine lake and Big Pine lake, in Wagner, the latter extending east into
Pine ocounty, gave their name to the outflowing Pine river. These lakes
and great areas around them, in both Aitkin and Pine counties, originally
had majestic white pine forests.

Dam lake and brook, in Kimberly, received this name from the low,
ice-formed ridges of gravel and sand on the shores of this lake, especially
at its mouth.

Sandy river, flowing west and then north into the lake of this name
and outflowing by a very crooked course of more than two miles, though
its junction with the Mississippi is only about a half mile from the lake,
follows the Indian rule of nomenclature, that a lake gives its name to the
stream flowing through it or from it.

Prairie river, like the West Savanna river, which unites with it,
received its name from its small open spaces of grassy and hushy iand
without trees, in this generally wooded region.

Savanna lake, adjoining the old portage of the fur traders, and the
Lower Savanna lake, through which their canoes passed to Sandy lake,
also have reference to such small savannas, which are more commonly
called prairies excepting in the southern states.

Tamarack river, flowing into Prairie river, was named for its plentiful
growth of the tamarack, a very graceful species of our coniferous trees
(the only one that is not evergreen).

Aitkin lake. in sections 19 and 20, Turner, was named like this county
for William A. Aitkin, the fur trader, who very probably often fished and
hunted there. ’

Bald Bluff lake lies at the southern base of the hill of this name.

Birch lake, in section 19, Hazelton, is named for its yellow and paper
birches, the latter being the species used for the Indian’s bark canoe.

Blind lake, in T. 48, R. 27, is mainly inclosed by a large swamp and
has no outlet, as its name implies.

Cedar lake, before mentioned, was named from the red cedars which
in scanty numbers are found on its hilly shores and islands.

Clear lake, in sections 28 and 33, Glen, is exceptionally beautiful, with
very clear water and inclosed by high shores.

Elm Island lake, at the center of Nordland, has a small island bearing
elm trees,
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Farm Island lake gave its name to that township, in allusion to the
farming by Ojibways. The outflowing Mud river passes in the next two
miles through Pine, Hickory, and Spirit lakes, which in the latest atlas
are shown to be connected by straits, so that they might be termed a series
of three bays continuous with the first named large lake.

Fleming, French, Jenkins, and Wilkins lakes, in Fleming township,
are probably named for early settlers, trappers and hunters, or lumbermen.
A larger lake of this group, now named Gun lake, was formerly called
Lake Manomin (i. e, Wild Rice).

Hanging Kettle lake, translated from its Ojibway name, in sections
13 and 14, Farm Island township, is connected eastward by straits with
Diamond and Mud lakes.

Horseshoe lake, in sections 23 and 24, Shamrock, is named for its
curved shape.

Island lake, in sections 11 to 14, Turner, has a large central island.

Lone lake, in sections 29 and 30, Nordland, has no visible outlet; but it
probably supplies the water of large chalybeate springs which issue close
south of the road near the middle of the south side of Mud lake.

Mallard lake, in section 2, Hazelton, formerly called Rice lake, is
named for its mallard ducks.

Nelson and Douglas lakes, section 23, Clark, now drained away, were
named for M. Nelson and E. Douglas, owners of adjoining lands.

The name of Nord lake, in Nordland, is of similar origin with the
township name, meaning north and given by Norwegian settlers.

Pine lake, named for its pine woods, in Hazelton township, was carlier
known as Hazelton lake or Echo lake.

Portage lake, section 6, Davidson, was at the end of a portage on a
former canoe route.

Rabbit lake, in Glen township, has high shores of irregular outlines,
an excellent hunting ground.

Rat lake, in Workman, and Rat House lake, in sections 26 and 35,
Cornish, are named for their muskrats.

Sugar lake, in Malmo, is named for its sugar maple trees, this species
having been much used by the Ojibways for sugar-making.

Twenty lake, in Malmo, is named from the number of its section.

Vladimirof lake, mainly in section 10, Nordland, was formerly known
as Section Ten lake, but has been renamed for a settler who owns lands
close north and east of the lake. .

This county also has the following names of lakes, which are of fre-
quent occurrence elsewhere.

Bass lake, in section 28, Aitkin; another of this name in section 10,
Farm Island (lately renamed as Hammal lake) ; and a third Bass lake
in section 19, Turner. .

Long lake, in Glen township. .
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Mud lake, in Nordland; another in the north part of Logan; and a
third and fourth in section 10, McGregor, and sections 14 and 23, White
Elk.

_ Otter lake, in section 34, LeMay; and another in section 9, Logan.

Pickerel lake, in section 27, Aitkin.

Round lake, in section 31, Hazelton ; another in Jevne; a third, crossed
by the line between Haugen and Shamrock; and a fourth between Wau-
kenabo and Esquagamah lakes.

GrAcIAL LAKE AITKIN.

In the village of Aitkin and westward a beach ridge of gravel and sand,
having a height of three to five feet, marks the south shore of a glacial
lake which existed during a geologically very short time in the broad
and shallow depression of this part of the Mississippi valley. It was first
described and mapped by the present writer in Volume IV of the Final
Report of the Geological Survey of Minnesota, published in 1899, being
then known to extend from the edge of Crow Wing county eastward and
northward in Aitkin, Spencer, and Morrison townships.

Later and more detailed examinations, by Leverett and Sardeson, show
that this glacial lake reached northward along the Mississippi to the mouth
of Swan river, in the north edge of Aitkin county (Bulletin No. 13,
Minnesota Geological Survey, published in 1917). The length of Glacial
Lake Aitkin was about fifty miles, but it had only a slight depth of water,
nowhere exceeding twenty feet, above the Mississippi, Willow, and Rice
rivers, and above the Sandy river and lake.



ANOKA COUNTY

The name of this county, established May 23, 1857, was taken from the
town of Anoka, which was first settled in 1851-52 and was named in 1853.
It is a Dakota or Sioux word, meaning, as Prof. A. W. Williamsor: wrote,
“on both sides; applied by founders to the city laid out on both sides of
Rum river, and since applied to the county,” of which this city is the
county seat. Rev. Moses N. Adams, who came as a missionary to the
Sioux in 1848 and learned their language, stated that, as a Sioux word,
Anoka means “the other side, or both sides.”

According to the late R. I. Holcombe and others, including Albert M.
Goodrich, the historian of this county, the Ojibways also semetimes used
a name of nearly the same sound for the Rum river and for the site of
Anoka near its mouth, meaning “where they work,” on account of the
extensive early lumbering and log+driving on this stream. The Ojibway
verb, “I work,” is Anoki, as given in Baraga’s Dictionary, with many
inflected forms and compound words from this root, all referring to work
in some way as their central thought.

But the selection of the name Anoka had reference only to its use by
the Dakota or Sioux people, whose language is wholly unlike that of
the Ojibways. A newspaper article on this subject, written in 1873 by
L. M. Ford, is quoted by Goodrich, as follows: “The name for the new
town was a topic of no little interest, gnd the writer had something to
do in its selection. It was decided to give it an Indian name. The
Dakota Lexicon, just published, and of which I was the owner of a copy,
was not infrequently consulted and at length the euphonious name Anoka
was decided upon. . . . It was said to mean ‘on both sides,’ when
rendered into less musical English, and to this day the name is by no
means inappropriate, as the town is growing up and extendmg on either
side of the beautiful but badly named river.”

TowNsHIPS AND VILLAGES.

Information for this county has been gathered from the “History of
the Upper Mississippi Valley,” 1881, in which Anoka county and its civil
divisions are treated in pages 222-293; from the “History of Anoka
county and the Towns of Champlin and Dayton in Hennepin County,”
320 pages, 1905, by Albert M. Goodrich; and from Charles W. Lenfest,
county treasurer, Frank Hart, clerk of the court, and Clarence D. Green,
real estate agent, during a visit to Anoka in October, 1916.

ANokA was founded by Orrin W. Rice, Neal D. Shaw, and others, by
whom its name was adopted in May, 1853. The “City of Anoka” was
incorporated by the state legislature July 29, 1858, and later the “Borough
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of Anoka,” March 5, 1869, but both these acts failed of acceptance by the
vote of the township. Finally, under a legislative act of March 2, 1878,
this city was set off from the township of the same name, the first city
election being held on March 12,

BETHEL was first settled in 1856 by Quakers, and was organized the
next year. Its name is from ancient Palestine, meaning “House of God,”
and was selected for this township by Moses Twitchell, who settled here
as an immigrant from Bethel, Maine.

BLAINE township, settled in 1862, was the east part of Anoka until
1877, when it was separately organized and was named in honor of James
Gillespie Blaine, a prominent Republican statesman of Maine. He was
born in Pennsylvania, Jan. 31, 1830, and died in Washington, D. C,, Jan.
27, 1893; was a member of Congress from Maine, 1863-76, being the
speaker in 1869-75; U. S. senator, 1876-81; and secretary of state, March
to December, 1881, and 1889-92. In the presidential campaign of 1884
he was an unsuccessful candidate. He wrote “Twenty Years of Con-
gress,” published in 1884-86.

BurNs township, settled in 1854 or earlier, was a part of St. Francis
until 1869, being then organized and named, probably for the celebrated
poet. This name was adopted on the suggestion of James Kelsey, who
was elected the first township treasurer.

CENTERVILLE, settled in 1850-52, was organized in 1857. Its village of
this name, thence given to the township, was platted in the spring of
1854, having a central situation between the Mississippi and St. Croix
rivers. The settlers in the village and vicinity were mostly French, and
this came to be known as the French settlement, while numerous Ger-
man settlers in the western part of the township caused that to be called
the German settlement.

The village of CoLumsia HEeiGHTs, a suburb of Minneapolis, in the
south edge of Fridley tonwship, was platted and named by the late
Thomas Lowry of that city.

CoLuMBus township, settled in 1855 and organized in 1857, was named
for Christopher Columbus.

FripLey, a fractional township comprising only about sixteen square
miles, was established by legislative act as Manomin county (meaning
Wild Rice), on the same date, May 23, 1857, with the establishment of
Anoka county. “John Banfil settled in what is now Fridley in 1847, and
kept a stopping place for the accommodation of travelers. Two years
later Henry M. Rice acquired considerable land and built a country resi-
dence at Cold Springs, giving his name to the creek which flows through
the town. . . . A ferry across the Mississippi river was established about
1854.” (Goodrich, pages 162-3). This very small county continned
nearly thirteen years, until in 1869-70 it was united with Anoka county
as Manomin township. The name was changed to Fridley in 1879.

Abram McCormick Fridley, in whose honor this township received its
name, was born in Steuben county, N. Y., May 1, 1817; came to Long
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Prairie, Minn., in 1851 as agent for the Winnebago Indians; was after-
ward a farmer in this township, and in 1869 opened a large farm in
Becker, Sherburne county; was a representative in the legislature in
1855, 1869-71, and 1879. He died in Fridley township, March, 1888.

Grow township, settled about 1853, was organized in 1857 with the
name Round Lake, which in 1859 was changed to Grow, in honor of
Galusha Aaron Grow, of Pennsylvania. He was born in 1823, and died in
1907; was a member of Congress, 1851-63, and again in 1894-1902; was
the speaker of the House, 1861-3. “For ten years, at the beginning of
each Congress, he introduced in the House a free homestead bill, until
it became a law in 1862.” This grand public service has caused him to be
remembered gratefully by millions of homesteaders.

Ham LAKE township, settled in 1857, was attached to Grow township
till 1871, when it was separately organized. It had been previously called
Glengarry, a namé from Scotland, which its Swedish settlers found diffi-
cult to pronounce. The county commissioners therefore named the new
township Ham Lake, from its lake in sections 16 and 17, which had ac-
quired this name on account of its form. '

LiNnwoop township, first settled in 1855 and organized in 1871, received
its name from Linwood lake, the lafgest and most attractive one in a
series or chain of ten or more lakes extending from northeast to south-
west through this township and onward to Ham lake. The name doubt-
less refers to the lin tree or linden. OQur American species (Tilia Ameri-
cana), usually called basswood, is abundant here, and is common or fre-
quent through nearly all this state.

Oax Grove township, settled in 1855, was organized in 1857. “The
name is derived from the profuse growth of oak trees, which are about
equally distributed over the township.” (Upper Mississippi Valley, page
285).

RaMSEY, first permanently settled in 1850, was organized in 1857,
being then named Watertown ; but in November, 1858, this township was
renamed in honor of Alexander Ramsey, the first governor of Minnesota
Territory, 1849-53, and later the second governor of this state, 1860-63.

Itasca was the name given by Governor Ramsey and others to a town-
site platted in 1852 on sections 19 and 30 in this township, near an Indian
trading post; and the first postoffice of Anoka county was established
there and named Itasca in May of that year. The name was copied from
Lake Itasca, at the head of the Mississippi, which had been so named
by Schoolctaft in 1832, It was later applied during many years, after
the building of the Northern Pacific railroad through this county, to its
station near the former Itasca village site. Both the village and the rail-
way station have been abandoned, but a new station, named Dayton, for
the village of Dayton at the opposite side of the Mississippi, has been
established on the Northern Pacific and Great Northern railways about a
mile southeast from the former Itasca station. This old village name,
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which became widely known sixty years ago, is now retained here only
by the neighboring Lake Itasca, of small size, scarcely exceeding a half
mile in diameter.

St. FraNCIs township, settled in 1855 and organized in 1857, bears the
name given by Hennepin in 1680 to the Rum river. It was transferred
by Carver in 1766 to the Elk river, and now is borne by the chief north-
ern tributary of that river. The name is in commemoration of St. Fran-
cis of Assisi, in Italy, who was born in 1181 or 1182 and died in 1226,
founder of the Franciscan order, to which Hennepin belonged.

LAKES AND STREAMS.

The Mississippi has been considered in the first chapter ; and the origin
of the name Rum river, outflowing from Mille Lacs, is noted for Mille
Lacs county.

A noteworthy series of lakes extends through Columbus and Cen-
terville, including, in their order from northeast to southwest, Mud lake,
Howard, Columbia, Tamarack, Randeau, Peltier, Centerville, George
Watch, Marshan, Rice (or Traverse), Reshanau, Baldwin, and Golden
lakes. The second to the fifth of these lakes are now much lowered or
wholly drained away.

Peltier lake was named for early settlers, Charles, Paul, and Oliver
Peltier, the first of whom built a sawmill.

Rice lake probably received its name from its wild rice, but Rice
creek, flowing through this series of lakes, was named for Hon. Henry
M. Rice, of St. Paul, United States senator, who was an early resident in
Fridley township, as before noted. This Rice lake has been also known
as Traverse lake, for F. W. Traverse, living at its northwest side.

Golden lake, the most southwestern in the series, lying in sections 25
and 36, Blaine, was named for John Golden, owner of land adjoining it,
who was one of three brothers, early immigrants to this county from
Ireland.

Another series of lakes, tributary in its northern part to the Sunrise
river, and at the south to Coon creek, lies in Linwood, Bethel, and Ham
Lake townships. This series includes, from northeast to southwest, Typo
lake and Lake Martin; Island lake, named for its island; Linwood lake,
giving its name to the township; Boot lake, named from its outline;
Rice lake, having wild rice; Coon lake and Little Coon lake, named, like
" the creek, for raccoons, formerly much hunted here; and Lake Netta and
Ham lake, the latter, as before noted, being named from its form, and
giving name also to its township.

Cedar creek, and the adjoining Cedar station and village oi the Great
Northern railway, are named for the white cedar or arbor vitae, grow-
ing there in swamps.

Seeley, Trott, and Ford brooks, on the west side of Rum river, are
named for their early settlers.
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In Burns township, Norris lake, in section 1, was likewise named for
Grafton Norris; and Hare lake, in section 21, now drained, for James
U. Hare, who was formerly postmaster of Nowthen postoffice, lately
discontinued, near this lake. (It is said that the name of this postoffice
was recommended by Mr. Hare’s neighbors, from his common use of it,
“Now then,” in conversation).

Other lakes named for pioneer settlers are Minard lake and Jonmes
lake, in Bethel, the latter (now drained) having been also known as Lone
Pine lake; Lake George, in Oak Grove township; Bunker lake in section
36, Grow township, named for Kendall Bunker, a homesteader there; and
Lake Amelia, in section 35, Centerville,

The following lakes bear names that occur somewhat frequently in
many other counties:

Cedar lake, in sections 33 and 34, Centerville.

Crooked lake, in section 33, Grow, and section 4, Anoka.

Deer lake, sections 15 and 22, Bethel.

Fish lake, in the north part of Bethel.

Goose lake, now drained, sections 15 and 16, Burns.

Grass lake, section 11, Oak Grove.

Mud lake, in section 16, Bethel; and another in section 13, Columbus.

Otter lake, sections 35 and 36, Centerville.

Pickerel lake, mostly drained, section 22, Burns.

The two Rice lakes, occurring in the series before noted.

Round lake, sections 20 and 29, Grow.

Swan lake, now drained. in section 25, Oak Grove.

Twin lake, section 19, Burns.




BECKER COUNTY

This eounty, established March 18, 1858, but not organized until thir-
teen years later by a legislative act approved March 1, 1871, was named
in honor of George Loomis Becker, of St. Paul. He was born in Locke,
Cayuga county, N. Y., February 4, 1829; was graduated at the University
of Michigan in 1846; studied law, came to Minnesota in 1849, and began
law practice in St. Paul; was mayor of this city in 1856; was Democratic
candidate for Governor of Minnesota in 1839; was a state senator, 1898-
71. He was commonly called General Becker, having been appointed by
Governor Sibley on his military staff in 1858, with the rank of brigadier
general. In 1862 he became land commissioner of the St. Paul and
Pacific railroad, and was ever afterward occupied in advancing the rail-
road interests of Minnesota, being a member of the state railroad and
warehouse commission from 1885 to 1901. He died in St. Paul, January
6, 1904,

October 13, 1857, Mr. Becker was elected as one of three members of
Congress, to which number it was thought that the new state would be
entitled. It was afterward decided, however, that the state could have
only two representatives; and, in casting lots for these two, Becker was
. unsuccessful. His generous acquiescence was in part rewarded by this
county name.

TOWNSHIPS AND VILLAGES.

Information has been gathered from “A Pioneer History of Becker
County,” by Alvin H. Wilcox, published in 1907, 757 pages; from H. S.
Dahlen, county auditor, George D. Hamilton, editor of the Detroit
Record, and Charles G. Sturtevant, formerly county surveyor, interviewed
during a visit at Detroit in August, 1909; and from maps in the office
of J. A. Narum, county auditor, examined during a second visit in Sep-
tember, 1916.

ATLANTA township, settled in 1871, was organized January 25, 1879,
being then named Martin, perhaps for Martin Hanson, one of the first
settlers. Two months afterward it was renamed Atlanta, “from the re-
semblance its undulating surface bears to the Atlantic ocean

AupusoN township was organized August 19, 1871, but was nimed
successively Windom, Colfax, and Oak Lake, holding the last of these
names from 1872 until 1881. The Northern Pacific station and village
to be established here, also the small lake adjoining the village site, had
received the name Audubon in August, 1871, in honor of John James
Audubon (b. 1780, d. 1851), the great American ornithologist, celebrated
for his pictures of birds. This name was proposed by his niece, a mem-
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ber of a party of tourists who “camped where the Audubon depot now
stands.” In January, 1881, the township name was changed to Audubon,
and on February 23 of that year the village was incorporated.

BURLINGTON, organized August 26, 1872, “was so named from the city
of Burlington in the state of Vermont, by Mrs. E. L. Wright, a Ver-
monter, whose husband took a leading part in the organization of the
township.” .

Frazee village, on the Northern Pacific railroad in this township, was
platted in 1873, but was not incorporated until 1891. It was named in
honor of Randolph L. Frazee, owner of its lumber mill. He was born
at Hamden Junction, Ohio, July 3, 1841 ; came to Minnesota in 1866, and
to this place in 1872; was a representative in the legislature in 1875; re-
moved in 1890 to Pelican Rapids, and died there June 4, 1906.

CaLLaway township, organized March 30, 1906, is named for William
R. Callaway, of Minneapolis, general passenger agent of the Soo rail-
way, which had previously established a station and village of this name
in section 32,

CarsoNviLLE township, organized September 20, 1881, was named by
Alvin H. Wilcox, then county treasurer, in honor of George M. Carson,
a prominent pioneer, who in June, 1879, took a homestead in section 18,
Osage (the east part of Carsonville till its separate organization in 1891).

CorMORANT township, organized February 26, 1872, received this name
from its Big Cormorant and Upper Cormorant lakes, which are translated
from the Ojibway names. Our species is the doublecrested cormorant, -
which nests plentifully about these lakes.

Cusa, organized in the winter of 1871-72, was named for Cuba, Alle-
gany county, N. Y., the native place of Charles W. Smith, who came as
one of the first settlers of this township in 1871.

Detrorr township, settled in 1868 and organized July 29, 1871, derived
its name from Detroit lake, which, according to the History of Becker
county, had been so named by a French traveler here, who was a Catho-
lic missionary. Having camped for a night on the north shore of the
lake in full view of the long bar which stretches nearly across it and
leaves a strait (detroit, in French) between its two parts, he thence ap-
plied this name to the lake. It appeared on our state maps in 1860. The
Ojibway name of this lake refers also to its strait, being translated by
Gilfillan as “the lake in which there is crossing on the sandy place.” De-
troit has been the county seat of Becker county from its organization in
1871; but during the first year some of the meetings of the county com-
missioners were held at or near Oak lake, a few miles distant to the
northwest. The first village election was held March 3, 1881; and the
city charter was adopted February 23, 1903.

Erme township, first settled in 1872-3 and organized August 18, 1878,
was named for Erie county in New York by settlers who came from the
city of Buffalo, which is in that county.
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EVERGREEN, organized January 4, 1888, was named for its abundant
evergreen trees, including the pines, spruce, balsam fir, and the red and
white cedars. It is estimated that in 1880 this township had “about five
million feet of standing white pine.”

GraNp Park township, organized July 31, 1892, was so named for its
beautiful scenery of rolling and hilly woodland, interspersed with lakes
and traversed by the head stream of the Red river.

GRreeN VALLEY, organized May 3, 1886, received this name from the
valley of Shell river, which crosses the northeast part of this township.

HaMDEN township, organized September 19, 1871, was named for Ham-
den in one of the eastern states, this being a town or village name in
Connecticut, New York, New Jersey, and Ohio.

HeicaT oF LAND township, organized January 26, 1886, bears the name
of the large lake crossed by its north boundary. The Red or Otter Tail
river flows through this lake, from which a former canoe route led east-
ward to the Shell lake and river, tributary by the Crow Wing river to the
Mississippi.  Gilhllan translated the Ojibway name, “Ajawewesitagun
sagaiigun, the lake where the portage is across a divide separating water
which runs different ways, or Height of Land lake.”

HoLMesviLLe township, which received its first settlers in 1871 and
1873, was organized March 19, 1889, as East Richwood; but this was soon
changed to the present name, in honor of Elon G. Holmes. He was born
in Madison county, N. Y., in 1841; served in the 26th New York regi-
ment in the civil war; came to Minnesota in 1865; settled in Detroit in
1872, and was president of the First National Bank there; was a state
senator, 1887-9.

Laxe Eunice township, settled in 1870 and organized September 3,
1872, “was named by the United States surveyors in honor of Eunice
McClelland, who was the first white woman to settle near the lake. She
was the wife of John McClelland.” (He was elected the first clerk of
this township, and was also the first register of deeds of the county,
holding the latter office six years).

LAKE PArx township, settled in 1870, was organized September 19,
1871, being then named Liberty, which was changed to the present name
in 1876. Its many lakes were collectively named by the Ojibways, as
translated by Gilfillan, “the lakes where there are streams, groves, prai-
ries, and a beautiful diversified park country.”

The name of LAke View, settled in 1870-71 and organized March 12,
1872, was suggested by Mrs. Charles H. Sturtevant, “as there were so
many lakes in the township and so many pretty views from them.”

Osace, settled in 1879, was united in township government .with Car-
sonville until May 4, 1891, when it was separately organized, deriving this
name from Osage, the county seat of Mitchell county, Jowa. It is also
a geographic name in Arkansas, Missouri, Kansas, and Oklahoma; but
originally it was adopted for the Osage tribe of Indians, “the most im-
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portant southern Siouan tribe of the western division” (F. W. Hodge,
Handbook of American Indians).

RicevILLE, organized in 1912, derived its name from the South branch
of the Wild Rice river, which flows through the northwest part of this
township.

Ricawoop township, organized June 23, 1871, was named from Rich-
wood in the Province of Ontario, Canada, the native town of W. W.
McLeod, who settled on the site of Richwood village in May, 1871, being
one of the owners of a sawmill there. )

RuNEBERG township, settled in 1882 and organized May 24, 1887, was
named in honor of Johan Ludwig Runeberg, the great Swedish poet. He
was born at Jakobstad, in Finland, February 5, 1804; and died at Borg},
near Helsingfors, May 6, 1877.

SAvANNAER township, organized October 12, 1901, was named for its
several tracts of grassy meadow land along stream courses, “made in an
early day by the backwater from the dams of the beavers.” (The Ameri-
can origin of this word has been noted for the West Savanna river in
Aitkin county).

SneLL LAKE township, first settled in 1881 and organized December
7, 1897, bears the name of its large lake, the source of the Shell river.
These English names were derived probably from the shells found ablong
the shore of the lake. The Ojibway name means, as translated by Gil-
fillan, “the lake lying near the mountain,” having reference to the portage
thence across the water divide to Height of Land lake.

SiLver LEAF, settled in 1882-83, was organized March 3, 1888, receiv-
ing its name “from the silvery appearance of the leaves of the poplar,
with which the township abounds.”

Srring CREEk township, organized in 1912, is named for its small
creeks and many springs, headwaters of the South branch of the Wild
Rice river.

Seruce Grove township, settled in 1880, was organized January 19,
1889. “As the predominant timber in the town was evergreens, it was
called Spruce Grove. The township was heavily timbered with pine
(five million feet), spruce, balsam, oak, poplar, birch, elm, basswood,
ironwood, and tamarack.” )

Toap LAke township, settled in 1887 and organized January 5, 1892,
received this name from its large lake, a translation from the Ojibway
name, Mukuki (or Omakaki) sagatigun. Thence also came the name of
the outflowing Toad river, and of the prominent morainic drift hill in
section 8, on the west side of this lake, called “Toad mountain,” which
commands an extensive view of the surrounding country.

Two INLETs, settled in 1881 and organized September 20, 1898, was
named from Two Inlets lake, in the east part of this township. It re-
ceives two inflowing streams close together at its north end, the larger
one being the Fish Hook river, which flows through this lake.
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WaLworTH township, settled in 1879 and organized April 3, 1883, was
named by Albert E. Higbie, one of its first pioneers, for Walworth
county, Wisconsin. He came from the adjoining Jefferson county in that
state.

WHITE EARTH township, organized March 30, 1906, was named for its
village of White Earth, the location of the United States government
agency of the White Earth Indian Reservation, which lies in three coun-
ties, Becker, Mahnomen, and Clearwater. The removal of the Ojibways
to this reservation began in 1868, the first party coming to the site of the
agency on June 14, which is celebrated there each year as a great anni-
versary day.

The reservation and its agency were named from White Earth lake,
the most beautiful one of the many fine lakes in the reservation, lying
about five miles northeast of the agency. Its Ojibway name is given by
Gilfillan, “Ga-wababigunikag sagaiigun, the-place-of-white-clay lake, so
called from the white clay which crops out in places at the shore of the
lake.” .

Ogema (with accent on the initial long o, g as in get, and a like ah),
meaning in the Ojibway language a chief, is the railway village of this
township.

WoLr LAKE township, first settled in 1888 by immigrants from Finland,
was organized April 4, 1896, receiving this name from its large lake,
which was so named by the settlers on account of its form. Many wolves,
bears, and deer were killed here during the first years of settlement.

LAKES AND STREAMS.

The Otter Tail or Red river, traversing this county, received its name
from the large Otter Tail lake in the next county on the south, which is
named from that lake and the river, as noted in its chapter. Pelican
river, flowing through the Detroit series of lakes to Otter Tail river, is
noted in the same chapter, for Pelican township and the village of Peli-
can Rapids, named like this river, in translation of the Ojibway name
for Lake Lida, which adjoins it and is tributary to it in Otter Tail county.

The origins of the names of several lakes of Becker county are noticed
in the foregoing list of its townships. These are the Cormorant lakes
in the township of this name, to which may be added the Little Cor-
morant lake in Audubon and Lake Eunice townships; Detroit lake, Height
of Land lake and Lake Eunice; the many little lakes in Lake Park town-
ship; Shell lake, Toad lake, Two Inlets lake, White Earth lake, and Wolf
lake. ’

Elbow lake, the most northern in the series through which the Red
or Otter Tail river flows, is noted by Gilfillan as a translation of its
Ojibway name, having reference to its sharply bent form. The next lake
in this series is Little Bemidji lake, a mile long, this Ojibway word sig-
nifying a lake that is crossed by a stream.
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Many Point lake is translated from the aboriginal name, referring
to the many bays and intervening points of the shore. Round lake, like-
wise from the Ojibway name, requires no explanation, being one of our
most common lake names throughout the state. The Upper and Lower
Egg lakes, west of Round lake, and the outflowing Egg river, are again
translations, referring to nests and eggs of water-loving birds.

Flat lake is another name of Indian origin, which perhaps should be
better translated as Shallow lake. Below the junction of the Round Lake
and Shallow Lake rivers, as they are named by the Ojibways, the Red
river passes through a small lake in section 16, Grand Park, which Gil-
fillan translated as “the-blackbird-place-of-wild-rice lake.” It has been
more simply anglicized as Blackbird lake. -

West of Height of Land lake are Pine, Tamarack, and Cotton lakes,
the last probably named for a pioneer.

Other lakes whose Ojibway names are translated include Fish Hook
lake (close west of White Earth lake), Big Rat lake, Big Rush lake, Ice
Cracking, Green Water and Pine Point lakes, Basswood lake, Juggler
lake, La